73466-1

FILED October 9, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington No. 73466-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

In re the Marriage of

ALEXA INGRAM-CAUCHI Appellant

and

STEVEN STOUT Respondent

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

PATRICIA NOVOTNY NANCY ZARAGOZA Attorneys for Appellant 3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711

73466-1

I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves two fit parents with two children, aged eight and eleven. The mother cared for the children while working part-time from home in a tech start-up she had designed in college, which is headquartered in California, the mother's original home. The father played a marginal role in child care, eventually withdrawing altogether in the year prior to the parties' separation. The parties divorced in 2012 and agreed to a parenting plan that gradually integrated the father into the children's lives, with the goal of achieving 50/50 parenting by 2015. In the meantime, the mother's business expanded exponentially and unexpectedly upon attracting the interest of prominent Silicon Valley executives, making it impossible for the mother to run the business from afar. Meanwhile, the father became engaged and moved from the family's long-term neighborhood of Capitol Hill to Snohomish County. The mother decided to relocate to California. The father objected and the ensuing litigation became a microscopic comparison of parenting styles, with the court ultimately denying relocation in order to guard against diminishing the father's relatively weaker bond with the children. The court's analysis turns on its head the statutory presumption, which favors continuity in the relationships as they presently exist. The court ignored this presumption, and the important policies underlying it, in favor of

attempting to engineer a family dynamic according to its own preferences. This approach violates Washington law.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court abused its discretion by restraining the mother from relocating the children with her and ordering a parenting plan that requires the children to reside primarily with the father.

2. The trial court erred by misapplying the factors under the relocation statute, ignoring the statutory presumption in favor of relocation and policy in favor of continuity, relieving the father of the burden of persuasion, and failing to defer to a fit parent's decision to relocate.

3. The trial court erred by failing to consider the fact that the father had relocated out of the school district, causing major disruptions to the children's lives when his residence becomes primary.

4. The trial court erred by excluding the testimony of the mother's proffered witness on the necessity of her relocation.

5. The trial court erred by entering the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

a. "The detrimental effect of allowing the children to move with the locating person does outweigh the benefits of the move to the children and the relocating person." (Finding 2.3).

b. "The children's relationship with their mother continues to be somewhat stronger and more stable than their relationship with their father... in part, due to the narrative that the mother is a better parent that has been internalized by the children. Importantly, Respondent/father exhibits patience in the face of this dynamic and provides the children with a balanced perspective that there is more than one way to do something and provides a more flexible approach." (Finding 2.3.1)

c. "The children have also established relationships with their soon to be step sisters. . . . Both children are developing a nice relationship with Meredith Mallot, the father's fiancé." (Finding 2.3.1)

d. "Disrupting contact between the child and the objecting party or parent is more detrimental to the child than disrupting contact between the child and the person with whom the child resides a majority of the time." (Finding 2.3.3)

e. "The children are excessively attuned to the mother's feelings, particularly with respect to her percept of the father's parenting, and this continues to undermine the children's confidence in the father's ability to care for them...in their minds, the mother's way is "right" and the father's way is "wrong."... she has a 'blindspot' about the ways in which she devalues the father's parenting role and the effect it has on her children." (Finding 2.3.3)

f. There are "concerns regarding the children's 'burgeoning perfectionism and associated rigid (black or white) thinking," and that they "would develop unduly concrete notions of good/bad instead of more flexible thinking skills and the ability to view a situation from multiple perspectives." (Finding 2.3.3)

g. "The primary concern for the children relocation to California is the potential negative impact on the children of losing day-to-day contact with the father, particularly given the problematic dynamics of this family, which are already marginalizing the father's parenting role. If the dynamic is not effectively intervened upon, such alignment could make these children increasingly vulnerable to becoming 'alienated' from their father; that is, becoming increasingly resistant to spending time with him. . . . Should that proportion [of time spent with him] shift, such that father has less residential time with the children, or is in any other way further marginalized from the children's day-to-day lives, I have significant concerns that this would be highly detrimental to the children's regard for the value of the father's role in their lives and would increase the risk that his visits would be regarded as an unwelcome 'intrusion' in their lives in California." (Finding 2.3.3)

h. There would not be "any danger of any long-term negative impact on the mother's relationship with her children if they stayed in Washington.... Although the children would experience some initial sadness, given the strength of their bond and assurance that there would be regular and consistent visits/communication, the mother-child relationship would stay intact." (Finding 2.3.3)

i. The "primary concern about the children staying in Washington was due to the mother's behavior." (Finding 2.3.3)

j. "Given this family's dynamics, the Court finds disrupting contact with the father would be more detrimental than disrupting contact with the mother." (Finding 2.3.3)

k. "[I]t seems reasonable that [the mother] would have tried a 50/50 arrangement to see if it worked before completely disrupting the children's lives by proposing a move to California. . . The fact that she never tried a 50/50 parenting plan with half weeks every week in California indicates bad faith to the court." (Finding 2.3.5)

1. "[T]he mother has engaged in behavior (consciously or unconsciously) that has had a negative emotional impact on the children... these children appear to be anxiously monitoring [the father's] behaviors and home environment for evidence of parenting 'imperfections' and missteps and then reporting to these to their mother (i.e., consistent with the 'script' they have learned for navigating the differences between the two homes)." (Finding 2.3.6) m. "[B]oth children are adjusting well post-divorce and integrating well into father's new family home in Brier." (Finding 2.3.6)

n. "Based on the mother's historic work history, the Court finds the mother has an alternate arrangement to foster a balanced relationship with the children without impacting the father's relationship with the children: she can reside in California with a midweek week on/week off basis and return to her Seattle home for her residential time with the children. This is the least disruptive to the children and the most beneficial for the children's emotional and physical well being. . . The court finds this would have been a reasonable alternative to at least try." (Finding 2.3.8)

o. The financial impact and logistics of relocating to California weigh against relocation. (Finding 2.3.10)

CP 442-449.

6. The trial court erred by awarding attorney fees to the father

based on the disparate financial circumstances of the parties without any

proof the father was unable to pay his own fees.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Does the Child Relocation Act presumption require the

court to grant relocation unless harm is proven and did the court here

instead use a "best interests" analysis?

2. Did the trial court relieve the objecting parent of the burden of persuasion?

3. Does the fact that the objecting parent had just relocated out of the school district affect the analysis of the relocation factors?

4. Did the trial court err when it excluded a witness without finding the "*Burnet* factors" (i.e., whether the violation was willful and prejudicial and whether less severe sanctions are appropriate)?

5. Did the trial court err when it awarded fees based on the disparity of incomes, not on proof of the father's inability to pay his fees?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alexa Ingram-Cauchi and Steven Stout were married in 2000. They met at the University of Washington and made their home in Seattle. RP 42-43. Alexa is from California and her family still resides there. RP 169. Steve's family is in Washington. RP 582-83.

Before she married, Alexa started a company with her brother and mother, iD Tech, which operates technology summer camps for children and is based in California, where both her brother and mother reside. RP 43, 751-54. Until recently, when the company expanded with the launch of Alexa Café, a program focused exclusively on technology education programs for girls, Alexa managed to work from her Seattle home office, shuttling back and forth to California as needed. RP 756-57, 762.

In 2004, Alexa and Steve had their first child, a daughter, G.S. In 2007, they had a son, W.S. Ex. 64 at 5; RP 42. After the birth of their children, Alexa did most the child rearing, while running her company from her home office. RP 1187-88. Steve was less engaged, deferring

mostly to Alexa on decision-making and the day-to-day parenting of their two young children. RP 1177; Ex. 64 at 27. Steve became increasingly distant and began to withdraw from Alexa and the children. Ex. 64 at 5-6. A former college athlete, Steve began to train for triathlons and to spend considerable time away from the family. Ex. 64 at 5-6.

In 2009, the couple sought counseling. A year later, the two began leading separate lives, with Alexa performing the bulk of the parenting while Steve "would come and go." Ex. 64 at 6. He was often too exhausted to help out with the children. Ex. 64 at 5-6; RP 1165-66. As a family friend, also a parent, observed, "I didn't really see Steve's role as a parent until they split up because Alexa was the primary parent." Ex. 67 at 11; see, also, *Id*. (another parent commented, "I didn't know Steven before the divorce, I had never seen him at school...).

By April 2011, W.S. was physically defiant toward Steve (hitting, kicking, spitting). Ex. 64 at 5-6. Alexa described their relationship as "rocky from the start"; for example, Steve was upset with W.S. playing dress-up with his sister and so hid the dresses from him. Id.

In the summer of 2011, Alexa and Steve decided to separate. RP 44. They began working with a parenting coach to work out a parenting plan during the separation. RP 41; Ex. 64 at 6. In August 2011, Steve moved out of the family home and into a one-bedroom apartment. RP

1180. Initially, the children spent most their time with Alexa, with Steve seeing them twice a week from 3-7 p.m. RP 1177; Ex. 64 at 6. They began spending some overnights with him in October 2011. Ex. 64 at 6. In November 2011, Alexa filed for dissolution. Ex. 66 at 3.

In September 2012, a parenting evaluation was completed by Dr. Jennifer Wheeler. Ex. 64. The evaluation recognized Alexa's "longstanding history of being the primary parent to both children," while noting Steve's pattern during the marriage of "learned helplessness" when it came to parenting and his withdrawal from the children "for much of their lives." Ex 64 at 27, 28; RP 1175-76. Following the evaluation, the parties entered into an agreed parenting plan in December 2012. Ex. 5. The plan designated Alexa as the primary residential parent, with 8/14 nights with the children. Ex. 5 at 2, 7. The parties agreed to move to a 50/50 schedule in June 2015. Ex. 5 at 2.

In February 2013, after a trial on financial issues, the dissolution became final. CP 1-6. A month later, Steve informed Alexa that he was dating Meredith Mallot; he introduced Meredith to the children shortly afterward. RP 677. Over the next several months, G.S.'s therapist, Dr. Lyons, had various discussions with Steve and G.S. to address her wanting more one-on-one time with him and more choice about spending time with Meredith. They also discussed Steve accommodating G.S.'s need for

more quiet / reading time and not pressuring her to be social while at his house. RP 684-695.

Meanwhile, in August 2013, outside investors purchased 40% of iD Tech's shares, requiring the organization be restructured. RP 829. An expanded and independent board of directors replaced the former board (consisting of family members) and demanded more accountability from the executive staff. RP 830-34. Within months, the company launched several new programs, including Alexa Café, a tech camp for girls, focusing on building skills in technology, entrepreneurship, and leadership. RP 708, 768, 861. This program drew the attention and backing of Cheryl Sandberg and Susan Wojcicki, two of the tech world's leading women executives. RP 779. The company viewed Alexa, a successful female technology entrepreneur, as crucial to this program's implementation and success. RP 862-63. Consequently, work made ever greater demands on Alexa, particularly as the program took off. RP 863-64. She was required to travel more frequently to California, where the program is based and where the majority of the café sites are located (i.e., in California universities and businesses such as Stanford and Intel). RP 865, 867, 782-83. As the "face" of Alexa Café, Alexa received increasing pressure from the board of directors to move to California in order to provide effective leadership for the program. RP 873, 1095-96.

In January 2014, Steve informed Alexa that he became engaged to Meredith. Ex. 203 at 6. A few months later, he informed Alexa that he and Meredith were building a house on property in Brier, Washington, a Snohomish County suburb, where Meredith's two teenagers and eightyear-old attend school, but 14 miles north of the children's primary residence, school, and community in Seattle. Ex. 203 at 4. While the new house was under construction, Steve lived with Meredith and her three children in her three-bedroom Bothell condominium, where his children then spent their residential time with him. RP 264, 271.

In the summer of 2014, Alexa Café had its initial roll-out, with projections for nationwide expansion. RP 785. With the program successfully launched, and the fact of its ongoing demands established, Alexa decided to move to California; in July 2014, she served her notice to relocate. RP 1316-17; CP 604. Along with her notice, she filed a proposed parenting plan which gave Steve substantial access to the children in California and included an offer to cover all his travel and lodging expenses, as well as his new wife's. CP 614, RP 1340-41. Steve filed an objection. CP 57. The court again appointed Wheeler to perform a parenting evaluation. Ex. 49.

In October 2014, Steve and Meredith moved into their new home in Brier. RP 571. As a result, during their residential time with Steve, the

children commuted to their school in Seattle (Stevens Elementary on Capitol Hill), their extracurricular activities in Seattle (dance, soccer), and to see their friends. RP 576, 704, 78, 65.

According to Steve and Meredith, the children (particularly W.S.) were bonded to Meredith and integrating into the blended family. RP 79. However, to Wheeler, G.S. reported she was "not really interested in having a relationship with Meredith... I don't really talk to her very much," but that she has just "gotten used to her" because "she was there all of the time." Ex. 66 at 6-7. G.S. also reported that she did not interact much with Meredith's children and that she was usually "on my own" at Dad's house. Ex. 66 at 6. During Wheeler's home observation, G.S. was noted as being "withdrawn and aloof" when Meredith arrived home. Ex. 66 at 3. G.S. also reiterated concerns about not having as much alone time with her father as she wanted. Ex. 66 at 6.

W.S. reported to Wheeler his struggles with Meredith's youngest daughter, Ava (age 8); that Dad won't address his concerns with Ava; and that it was unfair that Meredith can "get him in trouble." Ex. 66 at 9. During one home observation, he interacted with Meredith, but in a second observation he appeared more withdrawn. Ex. 66 at 13-14. Meredith's two older children (ages 14 and 17) were not present for any of the observations, nor did Wheeler have any conversations with them. RP

162, 273-74. The youngest child, Ava, was only present for the second observation, but she left the house without Wheeler observing any interaction between W.S. and her. Ex. 66 at 14; RP 162, 273-74.

In November 2014, while the children were in California with Alexa for Thanksgiving, she showed them property she was considering purchasing, explaining that she needed a place to "rest her head" during her frequent trips to California. RP 1113-1114. The children had lots of questions about her schedule; they had asked her if she was sleeping on the couch at Uncle Pete's (her brother). RP 1113-1114. In January 2015, she told the children about the possible relocation.¹ RP 1412.

In March 2015, Wheeler filed her report, in which she declared the "children's <u>best</u> interests will only be served by continuing to have equal access to both of these highly skilled and loving (yet very different) parents." Ex. 66 at 22. The mother's move "will preclude these children from having this best possible developmental outcome ... of enjoying equivalent amounts of time, opportunities, and experiences with each of these loving and highly effective parents." Id. Wheeler said "short of persuading" Alexa not to move, "there is no clear recommendation that will meet the <u>best</u> interests of these children" Id. However, given the

¹ The parties dispute whether there was an agreement that Alexa withhold this information, and the court made no finding that such an agreement existed. CP 445 n 2. Steve made no agreement regarding announcing his move to Brier. He told Alexa about the move in an email a few days before he told the children. Ex. 203.

weaker relationship between the children and their father, the "risk of harm to the children's relationship with their father appears to be somewhat greater if the children are separated from him geographically and socially" Id.

As a persistent theme in both her evaluations, Wheeler noted the "powerful influence" of the mother's parenting style, which she thought consistent contact with the father could "counter-balance." Ex. 66 at 25. According to Wheeler, there was a "dynamic" of the mother "devaluing" the father's parenting role, which posed a risk of "marginalizing the father's parenting influence over time." Ex. 66 at 22. This "dynamic" could, Wheeler said, lead to the children "becoming increasingly alienated" from the father if relocation is permitted. Ex. 66 at 23. Therefore, Wheeler concluded it is in the children's best interest to have day-to-day contact with the father and, conversely, that disrupting the children's contact with the mother was less concerning because their bond with her is much stronger. Ex. 66 at 24, 25.²

Trial began in April 2015, with eight days of testimony from both parties, Wheeler, family, friends, Alexa's co-workers, and another psychologist who gave an opinion about the parenting evaluation. The

² The report also described interviews with several collateral contacts who did not testify at trial, including the children's pediatrician, therapist, former nanny, and dance instructor. Ex. 67.

trial court excluded a witness that Alexa sought to call on rebuttal, a nonfamily iD Tech board member who could testify about the necessity of Alexa working full time in California. RP 945-46. (Additional facts regarding this issue are included in the argument section.)

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