FILED
January 11, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73466-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION

In re the Marriage of:

ALEXA INGRAM-CAUCHI,

Appellant,

and

STEVEN STOUT,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WITH ERRATA

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 Shelby R. Frost Lemmel, WSBA 33099 241 Madison Ave. North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033

Attorney for Respondent

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

6. Factor 6: The age, developmental stage, and needs of the child, and the likely impact the relocation or its prevention will have on the child's physical, educational, and emotional development, taking into consideration any special needs of the child.

The trial court found that factor 6 weighs against relocation, again relying heavily on Dr. Wheeler's report. CP 447 (citing Ex 66 at 21). The trial court began by noting that at ages 7 and 10, the children depend largely on their parents for social, emotional, and

cognitive support. *Id.* Both parents are skilled at supporting the children. *Id.*

But the court also found that Alexa has "engaged in behavior (consciously or unconsciously) that has had a negative emotional impact on the children." CP 447. The court then noted Dr. Wheeler's concern that the children were monitoring Steve for perceived missteps and "wrong" behavior, rather than relaxing in his able care, and then reporting back to Alexa, and that this dynamic needed to be "intervened upon." *Id.* "This [gave] the Court cause for concern if [Alexa] were to have the bulk of the residential time with the children geographically removed from [Steve's] stabilizing influence." *Id.*

Again, Wheeler's testimony amply supports the court's finding on this factor. Wheeler opined that at their ages, the children's greatest source of social, emotional, and cognitive support came from their parents, who were both skilled at meeting the children's developmental needs. Ex 66 at 20-21. But Wheeler continued to have the same concerns expressed in her 2012 report that "the children are too attuned too/dependent on their mother's emotional responses, particularly with regard for [Steve's] parenting." *Id.* (emphasis in original). As Wheeler "feared, the children appear to have developed an alignment with [Alexa], which at times positions

them 'against' [Steve] when his parenting choices differ from [Alexa's]." *Id.* Since Steve is a "highly involved, effective, and skilled parent," Wheeler opined that "the children's diminished confidence in his parenting appears to be a source of potential long-term emotional harm to them." *Id.*

Wheeler's testimony emphasized this concerning dynamic articulated in her report. RP 207-10. Alexa "over-read[s]" the children "in an unduly negative light" particularly when they return from residential time with Steve. RP 208. Alexa and the children are in a cycle where she is "overly sensitive" to their reports about Steve, and they make reports that are "not an accurate representation of what's going on." RP 208-09. Again, this dynamic puts the children's long-term emotional development at risk. RP 209-10.

Alexa asserts that this factor is a "tie," where both parents are adept at emotionally supporting the kids. BA 36. She claims that instead of breaking this tie in favor of relocation, as it must, the trial court "endorsed [Wheeler's] goal of shoring up [Steve's] parenting in the eyes of the children." BA 36 (citing CP 447). This ignores Wheeler's and the trial court's concern that consciously or not, Alexa is pitting the kids against Steve, creating undue anxiety and depriving them of the ability to simply relax and enjoy their dad. Ex 66 at 20-

21; RP 208-10. There is no "tie" – this dynamic puts the children's long-term emotional development at risk. RP 208-09.

7. Factor 7: The quality of life, resources, and opportunities available to the child and to the relocating party in the current and proposed geographic locations.

The trial court found that factor 7 favors relocation, where the children will have beautiful surroundings, quality schools, and stimulating extracurricular activities in either location, but that Alexa would plainly benefit from moving to California. CP 448. Wheeler's report amply supports this finding. Ex 66 at 21.

Alexa quips that the court "ended up in the right place," but complains that the court's analysis demonstrates its failure to "fully implement the presumption." BA 45. As it must, the trial court plainly considered both Alexa and the kids in this analysis. What more Alexa wants is unclear, but nothing more was required.

8. Factor 8: The availability of alternative arrangements to foster and continue the child's relationship with and access to the other parent.

The court found that factor 8 weighs against relocation, finding that as an alternative to relocating, Alexa could reside in California and exercise residential time in her Washington home on a midweek-on-week-off basis. CP 448-49. When Alexa moved to relocate, Steve offered to immediately move to the impending 50/50 schedule

to help Alexa attend to her business. CP 448. Alexa testified that she planned to keep her Seattle home and employed a full-time nanny who is "like a grandmother to the kids." *Id.* The court found it reasonable that she would have at least tried a plan that would reduce her travel, increase her time in California, and still accomplish what is best for the kids. CP 448-49.

Again, Wheeler's testimony and report amply support this finding. Wheeler too noted Steve's willingness to maintain a 50/50 schedule as intended under the 2012 parenting plan if Alexa could accommodate it. Ex 66 at 21; RP 214. While Wheeler noted Alexa's generous offer to pay for Steve's travel to California, she found that her proposed schedule assumes that Steve can take off more time than he actually can. RP 214. Wheeler was also concerned that this arrangement would exacerbate the dynamic addressed above, marginalize Steve, and set him up for failure every time he lacked the work flexibility to visit the kids. RP 215-16.

Alexa, on the other hand, has homes in Seattle, including one she "rents" to the children's former nanny at below market rent. RP 1426. She has always enjoyed job flexibility, and while that has

changed to an extent, it is not gone, and vastly outstrips Steve's ability to work remotely or take time off. RP 341-42.⁵

9. Factor 9: The alternatives to relocation and whether it is feasible and desirable for the other party to relocate also.

The trial court found that factor 9 weighs against relocation, where Steve cannot relocate – he is an employee, unlike Alexa who co-owns the company. CP 449. And Steve recently built a house, and is engaged to be married to Meredith who shares custody with her ex-husband, also located in Washington. *Id*.

This finding too is amply supported by evidence from Wheeler and Steve. Steve cannot work remotely or move to California. RP 39, 588; Ex 66 at 22. He cannot take the time off work to fly down to California for a week-long visit every month – his job simply does not allow it. RP 587-88; Ex 66 at 22. And aside from work, Steve was engaged to be married to Meredith during trial, and is now married. RP 588; Ex 66 at 22. Meredith's girls live with Steve and Meredith when they are not with their father, who is also in Washington. *Id*.

⁵ Alexa does not seem to directly address factor 8. Since her response, if any, is combined her arguments on factor 9, Steve addresses her arguments below.

Wheeler accepted Alexa's statements that she can no longer commute. Ex 66 at 21; RP 216-17. But she found it unfortunate and disappointing that Alexa, the co-owner and President of her company who had commuted for 16 years, could not continue doing so to better serve her children's best interests. Ex 66 at 21-22.

Alexa takes issue with the court noting that there was no mandate from the board that Alexa move, arguing that the court simply refused to "accept that [she] needed to move." BA 38. The court is statutorily required to consider alternatives to relocation. RCW 26.09.520(9). And the court is right – there is no evidence that the board directed Alexa to move. The board plainly wanted Alexa to move, and the trial court was well aware of that fact. CP 446.

10. Factor 10: The financial impact and logistics of the relocation or its prevention.

The court found that factor 10 weighs against relocation, where Alexa has considerably more flexibility than Steve. CP 449. Alexa has significant wealth, including multiple homes in California and Washington, and the ability to travel back and forth with little or no impact on her finances. *Id.* As the founder and President of her company, Alexa has considerable flexibility in the hours she works and when she works. *Id.* Steve, by contrast, has less job flexibility and commitments to his new wife and stepchildren. *Id.* Although

Alexa "generously" offered to pay for Steve's travel once a month, he has limited time off from work. *Id*.

Wheeler said little about this factor other than that the parties' financial situation was stable whether the relocation was allowed or prevented. Ex 66 at 22; RP 217. Logistically, Steve cannot work remotely or take the time away from work to regularly see the kids in California. RP 39, 587-88; Ex 66 at 22.

Alexa's only comment on factor 10 is that the court failed to give enough credit to Alexa's offer to pay the costs associated with Steve traveling to California. BA 44. That misses the point. Factor 10 is not just about finances, but also logistics. Steve simply cannot work remotely or take off a week every month to see the kids. RP 39, 587-88; Ex 66 at 22. Alexa, on the other hand, enjoys considerable flexibility, including the ability to work remotely. RP 341-42, 840-42, 904, 1031-32, 1438-39.6

In sum, the trial court plainly considered each statutory factor on the record and its findings are amply supported by Dr. Wheeler, Steve, and others. This Court should affirm.

⁶ Factor 11 does not apply, as it addresses only temporary orders. RCW 26.09.520.

D. The trial court properly excluded Behar, and any error is harmless.

Alexa argues the trial court erroneously excluded Howard Behar, an iD Tech board member disclosed for the first time 5 days into trial. BA 46-48. The trial court satisfied *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance* (*infra*) – with little help from Alexa. And even assuming arguendo that an error occurred, it is harmless, where Behar's proffered testimony was cumulative. This Court should affirm.

Alexa incorrectly asserts that this Court applies a *de novo* standard of review. BA 47. As our Supreme Court recently reiterated in *Keck v. Collins*, the appellate courts review witness exclusion under *Burnet* for an abuse of discretion. *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 369, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015) (discussing *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997)).

Five days into a week-log trial, Alexa sought to call Howard Behar, an iD Tech board member, to "rebut Steve's claim that she was not being asked to move by the Board." BA 46: RP 939, 941-42. Alexa plainly knew who Behar was, and what he would say all along, but chose not to disclose him as a potential witness, believing that he would be out of the country during trial. RP 938, 939. During her deposition, Alexa refused to even identify Behar. RP 936-37.

When Alexa sought to call Behar near the end of trial, the court repeatedly asked her to address the three-part *Burnet* test. RP 937-41. She never did, bypassing willfulness and prejudice, and arguing only that the court should allow Behar's testimony and require Steve to depose him overnight – a "lesser" sanction. *Id*. The court ruled as follows:

Under *Burnet* I need to look at whether it's a willful violation, whether it would be substantially prejudicial, and whether there's a lesser sanction. We started trial Monday the 23rd. This is our fifth day of trial. We're now at March 30th, hoping to wrap up in a couple of days. My understanding is that Mr. Behar was never on the witness list. Other members of the board are on the witness list and are testifying. I think that it sounds from the offer of proof that the testimony is relatively cumulative but for the fact that he's not a friend or family member which, frankly, only goes to impeachment to a certain extent. I – you still listen to the – substantively to the testimony. I think that since he was never disclosed and there is clearly substantial prejudice being that we're in the middle of trial, I don't think a lesser sanction of having him be deposed and testifying tomorrow is adequate. I think that would be – you know, it's really a little bit trial by ambush. So I'm not going to allow his testimony.

RP 945-46. The court plainly considered each *Burnet* factor "on the record." *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 217, 274 P.3d 336 (2012). No more is required.

But even assuming arguendo that the *Burnet* analysis falls short, the error is harmless, where Behar's testimony is entirely cumulative. *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 355-60, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). Behar would have testified about the board's desire

and expectation that Alexa would be in California on a daily basis. RP 939-41. Board member Mathew Baumel testified to precisely that same thing (RP 1095-96):

Q. And so has there been discussion among the board about the need for Alexa to be on the ground in California on a fulltime basis?

A. Of course. Of course. You know, ever since the board started we've been talking about when Alexa's going to move down to be part of their full-time. She's the founder. She's the leader. She's the president. . . . And we need Alexa down there. It's — I mean, it's really nonnegotiable. It's extremely important that she's in the office each day and every day.

Similarly, when Alexa's brother and fellow board member Peter was asked whether the board had ever asked Alexa to move to California, Peter said, "I think it's just so ingrained in the thinking that it's – I think we had that discussion – we've had that discussion in board meetings. We've had that discussion ongoing that this is really a nonnegotiable item for us." RP 877. He later stated that the board had repeatedly asked Alexa to relocate. RP 904.

Further, any error is also harmless where Behar's proffered testimony was admittedly relevant only to whether Alexa sought to relocate in good faith, and the trial court found that Alexa's "reason for wanting to move to California is made in good faith," stating: "No doubt, Board members or other members of the company have

placed pressure on the mother to move to California." CP 446; RP 940. The court's finding that Alexa's timing is not in good faith is based on the impending 50/50 residential split and Alexa's unwillingness to follow through on trying that schedule. CP 446. Board member testimony is irrelevant to that issue.

In short, the trial court plainly considered the *Burnet* factors, but any error is harmless in any event.

F. The trial court properly awarded Steve attorney fees.

The trial courts are not limited to awarding attorney fees only where a party would otherwise be left destitute. Here, the court found it inequitable that Steve would have to pay attorney fees that exceed his annual income, in light of the considerable disparity in the parties' incomes and assets. That is well within the court's broad discretion. This Court should affirm.

The trial court awarded attorney fees based on the substantial and undisputed disparity in the parties' income and assets. CP 454-56. Alexa does not challenge those findings. BA 49. They are amply supported. RP 671, 722-23, 830-31, 918, 1409, 1463-67.

Alexa makes a single argument – that the trial court may award a party fees under RCW 26.09.140 only if that "party cannot pay his or her own fees." BA 50 (citing *In re Marriage of Booth*, 114

Wn.2d 772, 780, 791 P.2d 519 (1990). Booth says no such thing, holding that a trial court awarding fees under RCW 26.09.140 must consider "the financial resources of the respective parties." 114 Wn.2d at 779. **Booth** is inapposite in any event, where the appellate court affirmed the denial of a fee award, where both parties' incomes were within the same range. *Id.* at 780.

Fee awards are highly discretionary. *In re Parentage of J.M.K.*, 155 Wn.2d 374, 395-96, 119 P.3d 840 (2005). The trial court correctly concluded that Steve has "substantially less" than Alexa. CP 456. She was well within her broad discretion in finding it inequitable that Steve be saddled with attorney fees exceeding his annual income. *Id.* This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's decision denying relocation is amply supported by the record and well within the court's broad discretion. The ruling prohibiting Behar's testimony complies with *Burnet*, and is a harmless error, if error at all. The fee award too is well within the court's broad discretion. This Court should affirm.

⁷ Although Alexa cites *In re Marriage of Griffin*, the case name is actually *In re Marriage of Booth*.